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Capitol Square is £ivo acres bounded on the west by Washington Street, 
on the nor tli by Him tor Street, on the east by Capitol Avenue , and on the 
south by Mitchell Street. The Capitol may be entered from each side of the 
square but the main entrance, approached on a wide concrete plaza, is on 
the west facing downtown Atlanta. Dominating this facade is a four story 
heroic portico, the pediment being supported by six columns in the composite 
order. Six rusticated piers support the columns and one enters the second 
but main floor of the building by passing between these massive squares of 
stone. Above this pedimented portico a dome and lantern covered with gold 
leaf rise, topped by a female statue of Freedom holding a sword to her side 
and a lantern aloft. This main entrance block has, two wings connected by 
wide hyphens. The rear facade essentially duplicates the front.

The greatest length of the building, north and south, is 347 feet and 
nine inches and the greatest depth through the center is 272 feet, 4 1/2 
inches. The open rotunda extends from the second floor through the upper 
stories to a height of 237 feet and four inches, exclusive of the statue 
adorning .the top of the dome, which is fifteen feet tall. The dome itself 
is 75 feet in diameter. Indiana oolithic limestone is the chief facing 
material. The cornerstone is Georgia marble.

Inside, Georgia marble has been used for floors, steps, and as a facing 
for wails to a height of several feet.

On the west side of the open rotunda above the entrance way and defined 
by the portico is the House Chamber, and on the east side is the Senate 
Chamber. Oak paneling in both chambers is a massive exercise in Florentine 
Renaissance motifs with an Eastlake Victorian flavor.

Off the north and south, sides of . ( the rotunda in the hyphen connecting 
the two office wings are two-story galleried lobbies with grand marble 
.staircases, the whole lighted at the top by bands of round-arched clerestory 
windows. The galleries are supported by 42 columns in the Composite Order. 
Shades of blue are used throughout with architectural details highlighted 
by gold leaf. Statues, marble busts, portraits, markers, Confederate and 
other war flags and banners are displayed on every floor. Under the rotunda 
is a Hall of Fame with marble busts of the Georgia "Signers" and other 
illustrious citizens from the past. The fourth floor corridors have displays 
which comprise the Georgia State Museum of Science and Industry. Outside 
on the beautifully manicured Capitol grounds, under elms, oaks, and 10 
magnolia trees , are numerous bronze statues and historical markers with 
here and there a veritable botanical garden of native flora in beds of 
flowers changeu with the seasons.
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State Capitol

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Georgia has had five authorized Capitals, owned four Capitol buildings 
of which three were built by the State, one in the 18th century at Louis­ 
ville and the other two during the 19th century, first at Milledgeville in 
1807, and then the present one in Atlanta completed in 1889.

In 1887 when Atlanta became the official permanent State Capital, the 
city offered the state:

The square in the heart of the city known as City Hall Lot, contain­ 
ing five acres of land, bounded by a street on every side on which to 
locate and build a Capitol for the State.

This offer was accepted in 1879 and, in 1883, the State Legislature appro­ 
priated one million dollars for the erection of a Capitol under the super­ 
vision of a Board of five Commissioners, exclusive of the Governor who was 
designated as Ex-officio Chairman of the Board.

The Capitol Act specified that "all materials used' in' the construction 
of said building shall be those found and procured within the State of 
Georgia; provided that same can be procured in said state as cheaply as 
other materials of like quality in other states." The Commissioners 
selected by competition the design submitted by the architectural firm of 
Edbrooke (Willoughby J,) and Burnham (Franklin P.), of Chicago. September 24, 
1884, a construction bid from Miles and Home, Toledo,1 Ohio, for $862,756.75 
was accepted. Indiana oolithic limestone was the chief material specified ' 
in the bid and Georgia marble for the interior finish of walls, floors, and : 
steps. (The Commissioners considered substituting Georgia marble or granite 
for the limestone, but deemed it "too expensive.") Begun October 26, 1884 j 
and first occupied June 15, 1889, it cost $999,881.57 leaving from the 
appropriated million dollars, $118.431

Although designed and completed during the era of High Victorian styles; 
when stylistic mixing was fashionable, it is a monumentally classical domed j 
and columned structure with a convincing atmosphere of architectural purity ; 
and design integrity. Several renovations have not altered the original j 
design which could be called a stylistic exercise in the United States Capitol, 
Neo-Classical-Renaissance Revival manner. j 

The building's monumentality was enhanced in 1960 when 43 ounces of j 
Georgia gold leaf were applied to the dome and lantern, adding an almost i 
Baroque note to the otherwise classical sobriety of modern Atlanta's reminder 
of Republican Rome. As the Capitol from 1889 until the present moment, it 
continues to be the prime architectural symbol of the best aspects of the j 
State's past, present, and future. (It and its landscape setting of lawns, j 
walks, native flora, statues, monuments, and Georgia history markers are ; 
superbly maintained and at night dramatically lighted.) ~~
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NATIONAL LANDMARKS STATEMENT OF ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

GEORGIA STATE CAPITOL

Begun in 1884 and completed in 1889, the Georgia State Capitol is a land­ 
mark in the history of 19th century American architecture because in style, 
form and plan it is a perfect expression and symbol of the idea of a Capitol 
building for the Capital of the New South, as Atlanta was called after 
Reconstruction. Reminiscent of the U. S. Capitol, it directly expressed 
Atlanta's new nationalism, when city leaders of the Georgia capital city were 
rebuilding and building-up the destroyed Confederate railroad center in a new 
image. They wanted to create an architectural symbol as Atlanta and the South 
began to join the mainstream of American life. High Victorian styles were 
rejected for a U. S. Capitol-like form of neo-classicism which would serve as 
a symbol of Georgia's rejoining the Union. This architectural nationalism, 
however, was forward-looking not only in terms of New South philosophy but also 
in prefiguring the "American Renaissance" style which culminated in the World' 
Columbian Exposition of 1893 - itself said to be an expression of the national­ 
istic spirit of late 19th century America.

Atlanta became the official permanent State Capital in 1877. At that 
time, the city offered the state, "The Square in the heart of the city known 
as City Hall lot, containing five acres of land, bounded by a street on every 
side on which to locate and build a Capitol for the State."

This offer was accepted in 1879 and, in 1883, the State Legislature 
appropriated one million dollars for the erection of a Capitol under the super 
vision of a Board of five Commissioners, exclusive of the Governor who was 
designated as Ex-officio Chairman of the Board. The Commissioners with George 
Price Post of New York as final judge selected by competition the design 
submitted by the architectural firm of Edbrooke (Willoughby J.) and Burnham 
(Franklin P.), of Chicago. September 24, 1884, a construction bid from Miles 
and Home, Toledo, Ohio, for $862,756.75 was accepted. Indiana oolithic lime­ 
stone was the chief material specified in the bid and Georgia marble for the 
interior finish of walls, floors, and steps. (The Commissioners considered 
substituting Georgia marble or granite for the limestone, but deemed it "too 
expensive.") Begun October 26, 1884 and first occupied June 15, 1889, it cost 
$999,881.57 leaving from the appropriated million dollars, $118.43.

In continuous use as a state capitol, housing the legislature and state 
government offices, it is today a prominent feature both historically, as one 
of the oldest major structures in Atlanta, and architecturally in Atlanta's 
ever-changing skyline.
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